
1 

MINUTES OF THE 
MARICOPA ASSOCIATION OF GOVERNMENTS 

BUILDING CODES COMMITTEE 
 

September 19, 2007 
 

Maricopa Association of Governments Office 
Cholla Room 

Phoenix, Arizona 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
 
Michael Clack, Scottsdale, Chairperson 
Ken Sowers, Avondale 
Phil Marcotte, Buckeye  
*Mike Tibbett, Carefree 
*Cave Creek 
A-Alex Banachowski, Chandler 
Mary Dickson, El Mirage 
*Peter Johnson, Fountain Hills 
*John Smith, Gila Bend 
*Jo Rene DeVeau, Gila River Indian 
Community 
A-Ben Cox, Gilbert 
Bryan Woodcox for Deborah Mazoyer, 
Glendale 
*Ed Kulik, Goodyear 

*Chuck Ransom, Litchfield Park 
Tom Ewers, Maricopa County 
A- Steven Hether, Mesa 
*Bob Lee, Paradise Valley  
*Dennis Marks, Peoria 
Tom Wandrie, Phoenix 
A-Dennis Street, Queen Creek 
Forrest Fielder, Surprise 
*Michael Williams, Tempe 
*Mario Rochin, Tolleson 
Bob Cooperider, Youngtown 
Lauren Barnett for Rus Brock, Home 
Builders Association

 
OTHERS IN ATTENDANCE 
Heidi Pahl, MAG 
Michael Neary, Arizona Solar Energy 
Industry Association 

Anthony Floyd, Scottsdale 
A-Ray Patten, Gilbert

Cameron Stewart, American Solar Electric 
 
*Those members neither present nor 
represented by proxy. 
A-Those members participating via 
audioconference 
V-Those members participating via 
videoconference 



2 

1. Call to Order 
 

 The Chairperson, Michael Clack, called the September 19, 2007 meeting of the MAG 
Building Codes Committee (BCC) to order at 2:03 p.m.   
 

2. Introductions 
 

Voting members Alex Banachowski, Ben Cox, Steven Hether and Dennis Street attended via 
telephone conference call.  All members introduced themselves. 

 
3. August 15, 2007 Meeting Minutes 
 

It was moved by Ken Sowers, seconded by Phil Marcotte and unanimously recommended to 
approve the August 15, 2007 meeting minutes.    

 
4. Call to the Audience 

 
Lauren Barnett said Rus Brock is working on comments to the proposed National 
Association of Home Builders (NAHB) green building standard.  
 
Anthony Floyd announced that the cities of Phoenix, Scottsdale and Tempe are jointly 
sponsoring the Green Building Expo October 5-6, 2007 at the Scottsdale Center for the 
Performing Arts. Mr. Floyd said the focus on October 5th is geared toward building officials 
and the focus on October 6th is geared toward the general public.  He said they are expecting 
over 8000 people to attend. He said this is a regional event, free, and the web site lists the 
schedule of activities. 
 

5. Comments From the Committee 
 
Forrest Fielder said last week the Arizona Central Chapter of the International Code Council 
(ICC) held a workshop about the emerging technology of electronic plan review.  He said the 
technology is being simplified and is more available which means it will most likely be 
considered by all jurisdictions. Mr. Fielder said that as needs assessment and feasibility 
reviews are completed, it is to be hoped that building officials will find a way to standardize 
the format.  Tom Ewers asked if this was about digital transmission of plans or electronic 
plan review.  Forrest Fielder replied that it is referred to as digital document management, 
including reviewing, archiving, and submittals. Tom Ewers noted that Maricopa County is 
now accepting electronic plans and sending permits via e-mail on a limited basis. Michael 
Clack said the city of Scottsdale is reviewing plans digitally at and many people really like 
that. Mr. Clack added that they are overcoming bugs such as payment notification and file 
size. He said electronic review of plans is currently limited to single family residences and 
tenant improvement, but they are looking to expand it.   
 
Tom Wandrie said that the City of Phoenix Special Inspections Manual has been updated and 
he distributed a special inspection certificate updated for the new code, 2006 IBC. Mr. 
Wandrie said this certificate incorporates the registered design professional in responsible 
charge, as the single point of contact for coordination.    
 



3 

Michael Clack said the Annual Conference and Education Program of the International Code 
Council (ICC) is taking place in Reno, Nevada from September 30th to October 3rd, and 
encouraged all to attend.   
 

6. Solar Permitting 
 
Michael Neary distributed two sets of documents each containing the original version, a 
version showing changes, and the revised version for permit submittal requirements for 
residential solar photovoltaic systems and residential solar domestic water heating systems. 
Mr. Neary said Arizona Public Service (APS) is advertising for people to put solar panels on 
their roof.  He said public policy on solar has come a long way. He noted that it takes an 
individual three to four hours to get a city permit for a solar water heating system.  He said 
they would like help to adjust the permitting process to make it easier to get a permit.  Mr. 
Neary added that they would like a standard plan for solar on the roof on file at all the 
municipalities.  
 
Mr. Neary reviewed the documents for residential solar domestic water heating systems. 
 
Tom Ewers clarified that deleting number 2 on this document does not get them what they 
want because number 4 states that standard plans shall be on file. Mr. Ewers said that a 
standard plan includes a structural analysis.  Michael Neary said they want to avoid having 
an engineer come out to do a structural analysis. Tom Ewers said this is already a part of 
their process for solar flat plate systems. Tom Ewers said if an application were made that 
did not reference a standard plan on file then a structural analysis would be requested. 
 
Tom Wandrie asked if this is something that is being put on a roof. Michael Neary replied 
yes. Tom Wandrie indicated that structural analysis is needed if it goes on the roof because of 
the weight.   
 
Forrest Fielder asked if the Arizona Solar Energy Industry Association was requesting the 
MAG BCC to take the position that these are essentially all light loads that under normal 
conditions would be evenly distributed on a roof and be able to be permitted without a 
structural review. Michael Neary responded yes, assume light weight, where a standard plan 
is not necessary for an installation that is 3-3.5 pounds per square foot. Mr. Neary said the 
majority of systems installed are traditional flat plate solar thermal panels. He said the 
manufacturer of systems that are 15-26 pounds per square foot, are asking for some sort of 
standard for these types of systems. 
 
Tom Wandrie said a live load on a roof cannot be compromised according to the code.  
Michael Neary mentioned that when a solar system is installed on a roof, nothing else can be 
installed on that part of the roof, and it cannot be walked on.   
 
Forrest Fielder said that he recalls that permitting costs for this system were given 
preferential treatment when first adopted. Michael Neary read item number 6.  Michael 
Neary said Scottsdale is the only city that allows online permitting for solar.  Michael Neary 
mentioned the benefits of solar. 
 
Ken Sowers said they understand the benefits of solar, the problem is the request to not 
require a structural analysis. Michael Neary said they are asking for no structural analysis for 



4 

flat plate and for systems with water storage on the roof.  He said they want standardized 
permitting, with a streamlined process throughout Maricopa County.  Forrest Fielder said he 
doesn’t find the request unreasonable, adding that these kind of permits can be issued over 
the counter if they are done on standard plans.  Mr. Fielder noted that cities need to make an 
effort to recover the cost.   
 
Michael Clack said Scottsdale inspectors do not do roof inspections, unless they feel they 
have a reason to go up there. Michael Neary said about 60% of the time the building 
inspector does not go up on roof.  Anthony Floyd said that when he was a building inspector 
with the city of Phoenix they did not go up on the roof, instead they looked primarily at 
connections, pressure release valves, heaters, storage, and cross connections. 
 
Steven Hether said Mesa and every municipality has slightly different ways as to how they 
assess, administer and apply fees.  Mr. Hether said that in Mesa they exempted solar water 
heater installations from permits and they have not experienced any problems, they think 
permits are not needed.  He said Mesa does not require permits for photovoltaic systems 
being installed under utility or government programs because they are such a low risk.   
 
Michael Clack said fees are established by city council and as a building official he has 
severe limitations as to what fee he can waive. Mr. Clack noted that the citizens of Scottsdale 
are some of the best watchdogs, they are concerned about color, height, aesthetics, etc.  He 
said that if a solar system is installed incorrectly, the citizens will most likely notify the city.  
He said he would reserve the right to require a structural analysis. Michael Neary said solar 
water heating has been around for a long time and for permit costs to be treated like a 
traditional water heater he fully expects to go to city councils to request that be adopted. 
 
Anthony Floyd said he thinks Mr. Neary’s proposed amendment does not get them what they 
want.  Michael Neary asked that MAG BCC make the documents available to staff at each 
city. 
 
Cameron Stewart reviewed the handouts for residential solar photovoltaic systems.  He 
suggested changing text in number 1 and deleting number 6.  
 
Tom Ewers suggested not changing number 1.  Cameron Stewart replied that he would like 
to change the text in number 1, so it is clear to all municipalities what is required, because at 
the present time it is not clear. 
 
Tom Ewers said that just because the MAG BCC adopts changes, some cities may not agree 
with the changes and therefore not implement them.   
 
Tom Wandrie said the proposed changes would not be in compliance with the code. Michael 
Clack agreed, and noted there needs to be a defined weight.     
 
Anthony Floyd said the panels would displace the live load, so that was the rationale at the 
time it was originally adopted. Mr. Floyd added that no one would be walking in that area.  
Tom Wandrie said he could not guarantee that nothing else would go up on the roof.  Forrest 
Fielder said chapter 16 of the IBC has a provision for equipment loads.   
 



5 

Michael Clack said he understands what Michael Neary is trying to do but agrees that a 
realistic number like 3 pounds per square foot needs to be added.   
 
Michael Neary asked if he could delete number 6 because it is archaic and no longer 
necessary. Michael Clack said that would mean that you are relying on the installer or home 
owner to let you know this is being installed.  Michael Neary replied yes, application is 
mailed to APS who approves that application, reviews it, reserves the funds, permit is pulled, 
system installed and before the system is energized, APS inspects the system and provides 
power to the system and back into the grid.   
 
Tom Ewers asked if APS sends something in writing stating they approved it. Michael Neary 
replied yes. Tom Ewers said he wants to hear from APS about eliminating this section.   
 
Forrest Fielder said he shares Tom Ewers’s concern and he would like to hear from APS and 
SRP that BCC would have their blessing to remove this. The MAG BCC asked for a letter on 
APS or SRP letterhead from someone with authority to make the decision to remove number 
6.  Michael Neary agreed to provide such a letter. 
 

7. Regional Plan Review/MAG Building Inspectors/Plans Examiners (RPR/BI/PE) Forum 
Update 
 
Ben Cox announced that only one person confirmed attendance to the September 13, 2007 
Regional Plan Review (RPR) meeting, so the meeting was not held.  Mr. Cox informed that 
they are thinking of disbanding the Regional Plan Review group if it is no longer necessary 
to meet. 

 
8. Updated MAG Building Codes Committee Membership 
 

Michael Clack asked the membership to send any changes to Heidi Pahl. 
 
9. Updated Survey of Code Adoption 
 

Tom Ewers said Maricopa County adopted the new set of I-codes including 2006 IBC, 2006 
IMC, 2005 NEC, 2006 IRC with MAG/AZBO amendments.  Forrest Fielder asked if 
Maricopa County would be updating the plumbing code. Tom Ewers replied that Maricopa 
County will adopt the 2006 IPC effective January 1, 2008.   

 
10. Topics for Future Agendas 
 

Forrest Fielder suggested revisiting the topic of residential post-tensioned structures at the 
October MAG BCC meeting. 

 
11. Adjournment 

 
The meeting adjourned at 3:06 p.m. 


